FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2016 JAN -4 PM 3:58

No. 47812-9-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY THE DITY

## THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

State of Washington

DREW OTA, CRAIG GARDNER, ET AL,

**PLAINTIFFS** 

V.

PIERCE COUNTY,

**DEFENDANT** 

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

J. Mills WSBA# 15842 Attorney For Appellant 201 Atrium Court 705 S. 9<sup>th</sup> Street Tacoma, Washington 98405 (253) 226-6362 jmills@jmills.pro

##

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Superior Court erred by determining plaintiffs' employment contract extinguished rights to recover for underpayment of wages due under Ch. 49.52 RCW and accordingly erred in summarily dismissing the complaint.

#### ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Can an employment agreement negotiated by a labor union extinguish the union members' right to prosecute an action under Ch. 49.52 RCW for underpayment of wages?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case calls upon the court to review a trial court's dismissal of a case by summary judgment. Such decisions are reviewed de novo. *Jones .v Allstate Ins. Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 291, 300, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002).

Summary judgment is appropriate only where "the pleadings, affidavits, and depositions establish that there is

no genuine issue of material fact and that the moviong party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Jones, supra*, 146 Wn.2d at 300-01; CR 56(c).

#### **IMPORTANT FACTS**

This is a pay dispute between a large number of Pierce County Corrections Officers and Pierce County.

Taking the facts in a light most favorable to the plaintiffs, the county pay structure has, for a long time, and certainly during the periods in question, involved an agreement to provide officers with so-called "step" increases – basically annual increases based on years of service. A new hire is paid at "step 1" until he or she has been with the department for 26 pay periods or one year. CP 78.1

At that point, and for the second year of service, the officer is paid at "step 2." During the third year of service, each officer is paid at "step 3" and so on, until the officer has received six "step" raises. Essentially, these pay raises recognize that there is a learning curve and that an officer learns a considerable amount each year, and should be compensated more fully if the officer has put in the time to learn on the job. Once, however, the officer has received six

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It does not appear that the electronic clerk's papers completely align as to page numbers with the printed "Index" prepared. It's not clear why that's so. For example, Mr. Ota's Declaration should start on page 338 according to the Index, but actually seems to start on page 342 of the electronic record. References here are to the electronic record.

"step" raises no further raises accrue; apparently, after six years, there isn't a lot more to learn and an officer with, say, ten years of service really hasn't got much more practical experience than an officer with six years. In all events, the contract provides – and every corrections officer knows – about the "step" raises that apply each year in the early stages of a career. CP 78.

In addition to and after the cost-of-living increase above has been applied, effective January 1, 2008, the pay range for the classification of Correctional Officer shall be adjusted as follows: Step 1 shall be dropped and the existing Steps 2 through 6 shall be moved down one step each, to Steps 1 through 5. A new Step 6 will be added which is approximately 2.5% higher than the existing top step. Employees shall each be moved to the corresponding new step number so that their pay rate will not be impacted by this change and step increase counters will continue. However, employees who have been at the top step of the range for a minimum of 26 accruable pay cycles will be advanced to the new Step 6.

CP 317.

What's going on here is that all of the old "step" rates were being adjusted up, so that the 2007 "step 2" rate became the 2008 "step 1" or new hire pay rate. The 2007 "step 3," which normally would not be earned until after completing two years of service – at the start of an officer's third year of service – became the pay rate for a "step 2" officer in 2008. There is no "step 7" to shift and so a new "step 6" rate had to be created without reference to the 2007 scale; it would be approximately 2.5% above the old "step 6."

This new scale, essentially shifting everyone up a pay grade beginning January of 2008, would constitute a significant raise in county pay. But, what Pierce County did was to shift down the "step" level of every officer, essentially rolling-back years of service on their books.

An officer with one and one-half years of service in December of 2007 would be paid in December as a "step 2" officer. That officer would expect to receive the 2007 "step 3" rate beginning in January of 2008 as each "step" rate shifted. A December "step 4" officer would expect in January to start getting the old "step 5" rate, and so forth.

However, what actually happened was that the county, together with a union representative, agreed to shift down each officer's years of service.

What that meant functionally was that an officer being paid as a "step 2" in December of 2007 was expecting to start receiving the old "step 3" – new "step 2" rate – in January of 2008, however, there wasn't any increase in "step" pay because the county reclassified from "step 2" to "step 1," so that the officer's pay beginning in January of 2008 was unchanged from the rate paid in December of 2007.<sup>2</sup>

That interpretation didn't matter at all to someone with more than six years of service as of December 2007 because, with more than six years of service, an officer would be (sort of) a "step 7" – that is, rolling back years of service wouldn't matter; either way, the officer is paid the maximum "step" rate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Officers all got a small "COLA" increase, but the base "step" hourly pay rate didn't go up in 2008.

That interpretation didn't matter at all to an officer with less than one full year of service as of December, 2007 because such an officer was being paid at the old "step 1" in December of 2007, and because one can't be rolled to any "step 0," the officer would actually get a January, 2008 raise to the new "step 1" – old "step 2" rate.

The fact that officers with less than a full year of service couldn't be rolled back created some interesting issues because what it practically meant was that after January, 2008 some officers with less service time began to lap officers with more service time and get paid more. That's so because each officer would "step up" in pay on his or her anniversary.

So, for example, imagine an officer with a hire date of February, 2007. That officer would be paid as a "step 1" in December of 2007 and would then be paid at "step 2" in January of 2008. That's so because the old "step 2" became the new "step 1" and no officer was paid below "step 1" – the new hire pay.

In February of 2008, however, that officer reaches his or her one-year anniversary, and "steps up" one level, to the 2008 "step 3" pay.

Now, imagine an officer with a hire date of May, 2006. Because that officer has over one year of service. That officer moved from "step 1" pay to "step 2" pay in May of 2007 and in December, 2007 was a "step 2" employee. In January,

2008, the officer would theoretically move to the old "step 3" pay. But, being a "step 2" employee in December of 2007, the officer in January, 2008 was rolled back. Both the officer hired in May of 2006 and the officer hired in February of 2007 were paid at the old "step 2," new "step 1" rates of pay. In short, the officer with one and one-half years of service, the officer with just under a year of service, and a new hire were all paid the same.

That would be somewhat of a problem, but a bigger problem was that in February of 2008, the employee hired in February of 2007 would "step up" in pay, to "step 2," the old "step 3." The officer hired in May of 2006 would continue to be paid at the 2008 "step 1," (old "step 2") until May of 2008 when he/she "steps up" to the new "step 2."

So, between February of 2008 and May of 2008, the officer hired in February of 2007 got more pay than the officer hired in May of 2006.

To solve this problem, the county and a union representative agreed to simply reset everyone's date of hire to January. It meant that the "lapping" problem vanished but only because officers with more than a year of service as of December got delayed in their annual "step" pay raises.

The county agrees that this is how the problem was solved. Deborah Young, a human resources agent for the county describes it this way:

Upon implementation of this language, it quickly became clear that if those employees who were at the old step 1 were simply moved to the new step 1 rate and allowed to continue with step counters, they were likely to pass up some of the employees who had been employed longer. The AFSCME representative, Brock Logan, called me with this concern. We both agreed that this needed to be addressed and the best way to do that was to restart the step increase counters for those employees. Therefore, it was as if they received their first step

increase early (because their old pay rate had been deleted), so their step counters started over, just as they do every time any employee receives a step increase. Mr. Logan and I each verbally agreed to the following sentence: "Those employees who are at the old Step 1 shall be placed at the new Step 1 and their step increase counters shall start over."

CP 267-68.

The contract language at issue in the 2008 agreement is admittedly confusing and ambiguous. It says (see page 3 above): "Employees shall each be moved to the corresponding new step number so that their pay rate will not be impacted by this change and step counters increase counters will continue."

The words "so that their pay rate will not be impacted" was apparently read by the county to mean "so that their pay rate will not be increased [when the new step rates, based on shifting the old step rates goes into effect.]" But, the more reasonable interpretation is that: "so their pay rate will not

be impacted," means that, although the "step" rates shift and the old "step 2" becomes the new "step 1" employee's years of service and step increase dates are unaffected, so that everyone gets the increase in pay bargained for; the years of service don't shift, only the pay rates shift.

In all events, what should be apparent is that the contract is not the most artfully drafted and might be subject to clarification depending on what evidence is presented at trial.<sup>3</sup> It seems unlikely that anyone bargained for a whole range of increased "step" pay rates that were essentially illusury, which is what would be the case if the county simply rolls back years of service on employees at the same time "step rates" are increased, so that there isn't any actual change in base pay rate.

If the deputy's version of the contract is correct, then clearly the county has unlawfully withheld pay in violation of Ch. 49.52 RCW.

The trial court never addressed that issue because it held that the grievance procedure built into the collective bargaining agreement was the sole and exclusive remedy available to the aggrieved officers, dismissing the case on the grounds that whatever resulted from that procedure, constituted their entire remedy. Specifically, the court held: "RCW 49.52 is not an independent statutory obligation up

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It would have been wiser, and clearer, to simply restate the 2008 "step" pay rates for each grade, rather than shifting the rates from 2007 to-the-left so to speak.

which relief can be granted without applying the terms of the CBA [Collective Bargaining Agreement]. CP 371.

This timely appeal followed. CP 374-80.

#### APPLICABLE LAW AND ARGUMENT

The core of this appeal raises the question of whether a simple employment contract can override or destroy an employee's *statutory* right to a Superior Court action as a remedy for recovery of the wages for which they have contracted.

## This case is not about a grievance as defined in the contract.

All of the contracts pertinent to this case define a grievance as "a dispute arising from a Management interpretation or application of the provisions of this agreement which adversely affects an employee's wages, hours or conditions of employment and is contrary to the terms of this agreement." CP 334. (The 2007–09 CBA at Article 18, Section 1.)

Not every claim against the county, and not every complaint about contract performance, is a "grievance"

which must follow the contract provisions for resolving a "grievance." That process applies only to a "grievance."

The county's simple refusal to just pay wages due is not a "grievance" as defined in the contracts for many reasons. Most importantly, the county's action in this case doesn't "adversely affect an employee's wages." That's so because the county can't affect *the wages due under the contract* by just refusing to pay. That kind of activity affects an employee's *pay* and his *paycheck*, but it does nothing to affect the wages, hours or conditions of employment because all of those things remain entirely unchanged by the county's decision to simply not pay wages due.

Looking at the plaintiffs' problem from a practical perspective, it's obvious that an employee can bring a "grievance" only when the employee has some reason to object to the county's action. In this case, if the nonpayment of wages due is a "grievance," then to get properly paid, each affected deputy sheriff would be **required** to file a grievance every two weeks after inspecting his or her paycheck. No "grievance" could be filed in advance because no bjectionable action occurs until the county issues a defective paycheck.

A grievance filed more than ten days after issuance of the paychecks would be too late under the CBA's grievance procedures. The various contracts provide that "Grievances and appeals must be filed within the time limits specified below." And, the contracts also provide that "if a grievance is not presented . . . within the time limits the grievance/appeal shall be considered resolved." CP 334. (Article 18 of the CBA, section 2, last sentence.)

Pertinent to timely presentation of a "grievance," the contracts provide as follows: "The grievance shall be filed by the employee or shop steward with his or her immediate supervisor within ten (10) working days of the occurrence which gave rise to the grievance." CP 334. (Article 18 of the CBA, Section 2, Step 1.)

So, interpreting the nonpayment of wages due as a "grievance" means that every affected employee would be required to sequentially file a "grievance" every two weeks within 10 days of receiving a paycheck; baring that, all complaints about wages would be deemed "resolved" for that week.

This not only creates a fantastic amount of work for all involved, but effectively would shorten the statute of

limitations for bringing a wage-claim from six years to ten days.

It is also essential to also understand that the amount the county underpays each employee in any given paycheck is small. It's a few dollars differential in rates over about forty hours more-or-less (depending on overtime) and thus it would be economically impracticable for any employee to actually deploy the "grievance" procedure as a means of resolving that small pay shortage every two weeks.

Now, quite obviously, this whole problem **could** have been brought to the attention of management, and the parties **could** have arbitrated it early on and the county **could** have decided after losing one grievance arbitration that it wasn't paying the correct rates. And that could have been done long ago. But, the question here is not whether this dispute could have been cooperatively run through that process; anything **could** be resolved using that ADR process. The question before the court now is whether that ADR process is the process that each deputy sheriff **must** follow to obtain the pay bargained for in the contract.

Plaintiffs contend that every one of the deputy sheriffs affected are not *required* to use that procedure because the county's decision not to pay wages due does not give rise to a

"grievance" as that term is used in the various contracts. The county's decision affects plaintiffs' **paychecks**, but it does not "adversely affect an employee's wages, hours or conditions of employment" which are fixed by the contract.

The county relied below on *Davis v. State*Department of Transportation, 138 Wash. App. 811, 159

P.3d 427 (2007). However, that case turned on a very special statute applicable to ferry employees; that being RCW

47.64.280 which provided: "Ferry system employees shall follow either the grievance procedures provided in a collective bargaining agreement, or if no such procedures are so provided, shall submit the grievances to the marine employees' commission as provided in RCW 47.64.280."

That the court's decision rested squarely on this special provision is apparent from note 10, "Because our decision rests exclusively on RCW 47.64.150, and the State is not an employer under the Labor-Management Relations Act . . ."

Davis is a special case, because, as indicated by the court at note 6 "Chapter 47.64 RCW clearly shows that the 'Washington Legislature has authorized the MEC to intercede in labor negotiations between WSF on the one hand, and, on the other hand, ferry employees and a ferry employee organization." Here, there is no specialized MEC

to address specialized claims of deputy sheriffs akin to the unique maritime claims of ferry employees.<sup>4</sup>

Davis stands for the proposition that a statute can modify another statute, in the sense that the old Ch. 47.64 modified the more general Ch. 49.52. Davis does not support the proposition that the protections of Ch. 49.52 can be bargained away by contract.

Under the county's very broad interpretation of "grievance," were the county to simply refuse arbitrarily to issue a paycheck at all, the employee's sole remedy would be to file a grievance within 10 days; failing that, the county's obligation to pay would be entirely extinguished. That can't possibly be an accurate recitation of the law.

If a simple refusal to pay constitutes just another "grievance," and if the contract actually provides only a ten day window to process a claim for unpaid wages, then such a contractual restriction is void as violating public policy and therefore unenforceable.

Various court opinions describe Washington as a "pioneer" in assuring payment of wages due an employee.

See e.g. Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of

Plaintiff's Opening Brief Page 14 of 24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The provisions of Chapter 47.64 on which the *Davis* case turned seem to have been repealed and replaced after the decision by RCW 47.64.170(4) which now allows disputes to be resolved by the Thurston County Superior Court.

Everett, 146 Wash.2d 29, 35, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002) (quoting Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc., 140 Wash.2d 291, 300, 996 P.2d 582 (2000)). Toward that end, three wage statutes penalize an employer who willfully withholds wages (WRA), fails to pay the statutory minimum wage (MWA), or fails to pay wages due upon termination of employment (WPA). The court is tasked with construing these laws "liberally" in light of the strong public policy to protect workers' rights. Id. at 35, 42 P.3d 1265 (quoting Ellerman v. Centerpoint Prepress, Inc., 143 Wash.2d 514, 520, 22 P.3d 795 (2001)).

If this case proceeds, it may be determined that the county did pay the wages due under the contract, or it might be found that the county did not pay the wages due, but none of that requires some oversight or review of the county's "Management interpretation" of any wage, hour or condition of employment provision. There is no dispute here about what hours were worked, the nature of the work performed, or whether the hours worked are compensable under the contract. The dispute is over whether that contract rate was actually paid. Management doesn't get to "interpret" those things and therefore this dispute is not subject to the contractual provisions that apply to a "grievance."

# RCW 49.52.050 provides an independent statutory remedy in addition to the grievance process.

Regardless of whether there are grievance procedures in the contract, RCW 49.52.010(2) provides that it is illegal for any employer to "Willfully and with intent to deprive the employee of any part of his or her wages, shall pay any employee a lower wage than the wage such employer is obligated to pay such employee by any statute, ordinance, or contract." RCW 49.52.170 grants employees a specific civil action to recover the wages wrongfully unpaid.

Neither Pierce County nor the bargaining representative can contract away an employee's **statutory** right to recover in a civil action.

RCW 49.44.160 provides that: "The legislature intends that public employers be prohibited from misclassifying employees, or taking other action to avoid providing or continuing to provide employment-based benefits to which employees are entitled under state law or employer policies or collective bargaining agreements applicable to the employee's correct classification." Again,

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