NO. 47812-9-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

DREW OTA, CRAIG GARDNER, et al., Plaintiffs/Appelles

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, Respondent/Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PIERCE COUNTY

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
ANDREW SCOTT
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

955 Tacoma Avenue South
Suite 301
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-6384

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

2009. Employees shall be granted a wage adjustment equal to 100% of the bi-monthly Seattle-Tacoma-Bremerton CPI-U increase reported in July 2008 (for information from June 2008 compared to the 12 months beginning June 2007), but not less than 2.5% nor greater than 5.5%, effective January 1, 2009.

There is nothing confusing or ambiguous about this language. The CBA merely states that employee's step labels would be re-designated to the new step number, but without loss of salary "so that their pay rate will not be impacted by this change and step increase counters will continue."⁸

⁸ Appellants in their statement of the case really do not seem to care what the CBA says or what the parties to the CBA have put into the record stating their intent regarding this language. For example, at page 3 of their Opening Brief Appellants blithely assert that these CBA revisions created a "new pay scale" and that "[t]his new scale, essentially shifting everyone up a pay grade beginning January of 2008 would constitute a significant pay raise in county pay." But there was no such shifting up a pay grade and no intended pay raises and no such thing was intended or expressed in this contract. The only change in pay was for new hires and for those at the top end of the step scale who would get one more annual step increase. Likewise at pages 7-8 of their Opening Brief Appellants offer what they suggest would have been clearer language that would have better assured: "...that everyone gets the increase in pay bargained for..." There was no such language because there was no such intent and no such bargain. What was bargained for was a

Every subsequent CBA with each successive union representing Pierce County Corrections Deputies has included language as to the continued implementation of the 2008 step designation adjustments with this language: "Step Plan. Employees in Step '1' through '5' of the pay plan shall be provided a step increase on their anniversary date after completion of 26 accruable pay cycles **computed in present classification.**" (emphasis added). Thus each successive contract perpetuated the employee's present step number as altered in 2008 by explicitly noting that future step increases were computed per that employee's "present classification."

Article 1 of the 2007-2009 CBA referenced above identifies the contracting parties as solely Pierce County and the union. Article 3 designates the union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent. Article 29 established a Labor Management Relations Committee for the purpose of providing a forum to discuss matters of interest to either party. Article 25 provided that the written contract contained the full and complete agreement on all issues between the parties hereto **and for all whose benefit this agreement is made** (emphasis added).

mechanism to increase starting salaries and add a new top-end step with no impact on the base salary of any other employee. That is what the contract says. Appellants' entire lawsuit is based on a false accusation that the parties to the CBA intended to give Appellants a pay raise that their employer then willfully failed to pay them. There was no such intent and no such failure, willful or otherwise.

Article 18 of the 2007-2009 CBA, and a similar article of each successive contract between the County and the unions representing is Corrections Officers, provides for mandatory binding arbitration as the sole and exclusive remedy available under those contracts. Each of these contracts contains the same, or substantially similar language: "the grievance and arbitration procedures provided herein shall constitute the sole and exclusive method of adjusting all complaints or disputes arising from the Agreement which the Guild or employee may have and which relate to or concern the employee and the Employer[.]"

5. No Union Grieved or Filed any Complaint in Support of Appellants' Claims

Appellant Ota filed internal complaints and attempted to initiate grievances with his managers, the County Human Resources Office, and his unions, alleging that these step re-designations somehow penalized him personally. Neither his managers, the County Human Resources Office nor his own union representatives understood or accepted his complaints. None of these grievances were ever advanced as union grievances under the CBA. By the terms of the CBA only the union can advance a grievance to binding arbitration

Neither the union that ratified the 2007-2009 CBA that this lawsuit is premised upon, nor any subsequent union that represented Appellants and

declined to file a grievance on this issue, is a party to this lawsuit. Moreover, the union representative who negotiated the CBA language in question on behalf of the Corrections Officers in the 2007-2009 CBA submitted a declaration in this lawsuit in support of Respondent's motions below. That declaration confirms and supports the Declarations submitted by Pierce County asserting that there has been no misinterpretation of the CBA, and no unlawful wage withholding.⁹

Appellants never filed an unfair labor practice complaint with PERC against any union that rejected their complaints, or filed any lawsuit against those unions for failing to fairly represent their interests before bringing this lawsuit.

III. ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review and Summary Argument

A party moving for summary judgment meets its burden by showing that there is an absence of evidence supporting the non-moving party's case. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals*, 112 Wn. 2d 216, 225 n.1, 770 P.2d 182 (1989), (citing, *Celotex Corp v. Cattrett*, 477 U.S. 317. 325, (1986).

In order to prevail on a wage recovery claim under RCW 49.52.050, willfulness and intent are essential elements of the statutory cause of action.

⁹ See Declaration of Brock Logan at C.P at 266-268.

Any possible measure of damages and any opportunity to recover attorney fees will be dependent on a clear and convincing showing of something more than a bona fide dispute between the County and these two employees. To prevail, Appellants would have to establish some material fact proving that Pierce County intended to deprive these employees of wages lawfully owed and not subject to dispute. Appellants raised no suggestion of the existence of any such material fact that might establish this necessary element of their cause of action under the statute they rely on.

Neither Appellants, nor their exclusive bargaining representative, have exhausted their contractual grievance remedies under the applicable CBA, and there is no suggestion whatsoever of any evidence that Appellants ever challenged their unions' refusal to do so. Without such evidence Pierce County's Motion for Summary Judgment was granted as a matter of law.

A trial court should grant summary judgment where a plaintiff "fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an essential element to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial." *Young*, 112 Wn. 2d at 225 (*citing Celotex*, 477 U.S. at 322). Moreover the test is not met by plaintiff presenting only some meager scintilla of evidence on a claim because a "scintilla of evidence in support of the plaintiff's position will be insufficient; there must be some evidence on which the jury could reasonably find for the plaintiff." *Anderson v. Liberty*

Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 252 (1986). See also *Seiber v. Poulsbo Marine Center, Inc.*, 136 Wn. App. 731, 736, 150 P.2d 633 (2007). A defendant's burden on summary judgment "may be met by pointing out that there is an absence of evidence in support of the non-moving party's case." *Tender v. Nordstrom*, 84 Wn.App. 787, 791, 921 P.2d 1209 (1997).

2. Appellants Cannot Prove Willfulness.

RCW 49.52.050 not only renders an employer liable for willfully and intentionally depriving any employee of lawfully owed wages; this statute actually provides that an employer who so willfully withholds an employee's wages could be guilty of a misdemeanor.¹⁰ That employer shall also be liable for judgment for twice the amount of wages unlawfully rebated or withheld by way of exemplary damages, together with costs of suit and a reasonable sum of attorney fees. RCW 49.52.070. This is as serious a claim as can be brought against a county government.

However, the Washington Supreme Court has repeatedly ruled that nonpayment of wages is willful only when it is the result of knowing and intentional action and not the result of a bona fide dispute as to the obligation of payment. *Chelan County Deputy Sheriffs Ass'n v. Chelan County*, 109 Wash. 2d 282, 301, 745 P.2d 1 (1987), *Lillig v. Becton-*

¹⁰ RCW 42.52.050(5).

Dickenson, 105 Wash. 2d 653, 660, 717 P.2d 1371 (1986). The plaintiff bears the burden of proof regarding a question of fact regarding willfulness in the context of withheld wages, and that burden is reviewed under the substantial evidence standard. *Pope v. Univ. of Washington*, 121 Wash. 2d 479, 490, 852 P.2d 1055, 871 P.2d 590 (1993). A bona fide dispute is a fairly debatable dispute over whether an employment relationship exists, or whether all or a portion of the wages must be paid. *Schilling v. Radio Holdings, Inc.*, 136 Wash. 2d 152, 161-62, 961 P.2d 371 (1998).

In 2009, the Washington Supreme Court reiterated, in *Morgan v. Kingen*, 166 Wash. 2d 526, 210 P.2d 995 that in any claim brought under RCW 49.52.050, there are at least two instances that always negate a finding of willfulness "the employer was careless or erred in failing to pay, or a 'bona fide' dispute existed between the employer and the employee regarding the payment of wages." *Morgan*, Id. at 534, citing: *Schilling* and *Pope v. Univ. of Wash., supra*. And while the *Morgan* court upheld a finding in summary judgment as to willfulness in that case (the defendants in that case did not contend a lack of willfulness on their part. In that case the defendants conceded that their withholding was willful but asserted that they were unable to pay the wages under the circumstances of a pending bankruptcy proceeding).

Pierce County has not withheld, and indisputably has not willfully and

intentionally withheld, any wages owing to any Pierce County Corrections Officer including Appellants. There is, obviously, a bona fide dispute regarding any claim for unpaid wages, not between the parties to the CBA, but between the County these two Appellants.

Willfulness and intent is the essential element of the statutory cause of action asserted in this lawsuit. Any possible measure of damages and any opportunity to recover attorney fees will be dependent on a clear and convincing showing of more than a mere contract interpretation disagreement between the County and these employees. Plaintiff must prove that the County intended to deprive these employees of wages. They cannot do that. The pleadings and declarations on file in this matter facially and indisputably establish that there is a bona fide wage dispute between these employees and the County.

3. Appellants Failed to Exhaust Grievance Remedies

There is simply no authority under Washington law for an individual employee to seek judicial re-interpretation of a CBA without either joining the union that was the real party in interest, or simultaneously seeking redress from that union under a duty of fair representation action.

Granted, not all represented employee claims must be arbitrated under grievance clauses, but a failure to arbitrate under the CBA is only excused when the rights forming the basis of the claim do not depend upon the CBA

itself. Thus, an employee may only escape the duty to arbitrate a mandatory arbitration clause if a claim is based on some non-contractual substantive right. If this case involved a claim under the minimum wage act, or an action by some qualifying individual under the Washington Law Against Discrimination, etc., then an independent non-contractual, statutory right would exist that would, arguably, obviate the necessity of pursuing the contract arbitration remedy or filing an unfair labor complaint at PERC. But this is not a claim under the minimum wage act, or the Washington Law Against Discrimination, or any other statute establishing some non-contractual right. There is no law that prohibits an employer and an employee union from contractually altering an employee's wage step designation, or from contractually altering an employee's wages, or from contractually altering any other condition of employment as agreed to in the CBA so long as those agreements do not violate some inalienable right.

The "wage recovery" or "wage rebate" act, RCW 49.52 does not establish an independent substantive statutory right. That statute only provides a right to bring an action to recover an otherwise definitive wage that "such employer is obligated to pay such employee by any statute, ordinance, or contract." There is no statute requiring any specific wage for Pierce County Corrections employees except their CBA. The language of that CBA is neither ambiguous nor in dispute between the parties who

drafted that language. That CBA has a mandatory arbitration clause that is binding upon individual employees benefitted under the CBA.

If the employee's union unlawfully fails to process a grievance or otherwise demonstrably fails to fairly represent the employee's interests that might excuse a failure to exhaust the contract grievance remedy but not unless the employee also sues the union. Otherwise the employee is, as in this case, seeking to enforce his or her own interpretation of the contract as a non-party, against one party to the contract, the employer, without also seeking to enforce the contract against the other party to the contract, the union.

A. What is the Controlling Law?

The controlling law regarding grievance clauses in public employment collective bargaining is set forth in *Lew v. Seattle School Dist.*, 47 Wash. App 575, 736 P.2d 690 (1987). That law is:

[W]here a collective bargaining agreement establishes grievance and arbitration procedures for the redress of employee grievances, an employee must exhaust those procedures before resorting to judicial remedies. *Moran v. Stowell*, 45 Wash. App. 70, 724 P.2d 396 (1986), (internal citations omitted). However, federal and state courts have held that an employee's failure to exhaust contractual grievance procedures does not bar an action by the employee for breach of contract if the employee has been prevented from exhausting his or her contractual remedy by his union's wrongful refusal to process the grievance. In this regard the courts have generally held that where a grievance procedure has not been exhausted due to the union's refusal to press the

matter on to arbitration a 'prerequisite to maintaining a lawsuit against the [employer] is an allegation that the union acted arbitrarily, discriminatorily, or in bad faith in failing to exhaust the contractual procedures for settling disputes.' (Quoting *Vaca v. Sipes*, 386 U.S. 451, at 184 n.9, 185, 87 S. Ct. 903, 913 n. 9, 914 (1967)) citing *Ploof v. Village of Enosburg Falls*, 514 A.2d 1039, 1043 (Vt.1986); *Lomax v. Armstrong Cork Co.*, 433 F.2d 1277, 1280 (5th Cir. 1970); *Hardwick v. United States Postal Service*, 391 F. Supp. 20, 22 (E.D. Tenn. 1974)). In part, this requirement arises out of the fact that the union is the agent of the aggrieved employee, and in the absence of evidence showing bad faith, discrimination, or arbitrary conduct on the part of the union, its decision to forego exhaustion of the grievance procedures binds the employee and forecloses judicial action on the contract.
Id. at 47 Wash. App 575 at 577-78.

The *Lew* precedent establishes that an employee must exhaust the grievance and arbitration procedure if the dispute arises under a CBA. Appellant does not address *Lew v. Seattle School Dist.* in their Opening Brief to this Court. Instead Appellant suggests that the County mistakenly relied below only upon *Davis v. State Department of Transportation*, 138 Wash App 811, 159 P.3d 427 (2007).¹¹

In *Davis* a group of Washington State Ferry (WSF) officers and engine room employees brought a class action lawsuit against the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) under RCW 49.52.050. This lawsuit alleged that these employees had gone uncompensated for some or all of their time for watch changes that extended beyond their regular

¹¹ Appellants Opening Brief at page 13.

working hours. Both the trial court and the appellate court ultimately agreed that the controlling CBA supported the employee's claim. However, the ruling in *Davis* was that regardless of the merits of their claim the employees failed to exhaust their contractual remedies under the CBA or their administrative remedies before the Marine Employees Commission (MEC) and thus the trial court should have granted summary judgment in favor of WSDOT.

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